
 

 

AGENDA 

 
 

 

IS-BWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU CYD-
BWYLLGOR CORFFOREDIG RHANBARTHOL DE-

ORLLEWIN CYMRU 
 

2.00 PM DYDD MAWRTH, 8 TACHWEDD 2022 
 

DRWY MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
Rhaid gosod pob ffôn symudol ar y modd distaw ar gyfer parhad y 

cyfarfod 
 
1.  Croeso   

 
2.  Penodi Cadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd ar gyfer Is-bwyllgor Trosolwg a 

Chraffu Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforedig Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru   
 

3.  Cyhoeddiad y Cadeirydd   
 

4.  Datganiadau o fuddiannau   
 

5.  Cyfansoddiad Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforedig Rhanbarthol De-orllewin 
Cymru  (Tudalennau 5 - 12) 
 

6.  Cylch Gorchwyl Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Cyd-bwyllgor 
Corfforedig Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru.  (Tudalennau 13 - 30) 
 

7.  Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforedig Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru - 
Blaenraglen Waith y Prif Weithredwr.  (Tudalennau 31 - 40) 
 

8.  Eitemau brys   
(Unrhyw eitemau brys (boed yn gyhoeddus neu wedi’u heithrio) yn 
ol disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag Adran 100B (4) (b) o Ddeddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 1972) 
 

 



K.Jones 
Prif Weithredwr 

 
Canolfan Ddinesig 
Port Talbot Dydd Mercher, 2 Tachwedd 2022 
 
 
 
Aelodaeth y Pwyllgor:  
 
Cynghorwyr: 
 

T.Bowen, R.Davies, S.Pursey, D.Howlett, 
M.John, M.Tierney, R.James, E.Schiavone, 
Sparks, P.Black, M.White a/ac W.Lewis 
 

 
 
Nodiadau:  
 
(1) Os yw aelodau'r pwyllgor neu'r rhai nad ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor 

am gynnig eitemau perthnasol i'w cynnwys ar yr agenda cyn 
cyfarfodydd y dyfodol, rhaid iddynt roi gwybod i'r Prif 
Weithredwr/Cadeirydd 8 niwrnod cyn y cyfarfod.  

 
(2) Os yw'r rhai nad ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor am fod yn bresennol ar 

gyfer eitem o ddiddordeb, mae'n rhaid rhoi rhybudd ymlaen llaw 
(erbyn 12 hanner dydd ar y diwrnod cyn y cyfarfod).  Gall y rhai nad 
ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor siarad ond nid oes ganddynt hawl i 
bleidleisio, cynnig nac eilio unrhyw gynnig. 

 
(3) Fel arfer, ar gyfer trefniadau cyn craffu, bydd y Cadeirydd yn argymell 

eitemau gweithredol sydd ar ddod i'w trafod/herio.  Mae hefyd yn 
agored i aelodau'r pwyllgor ofyn i eitemau gael eu trafod - er y 
gofynnir i'r aelodau ddewis a dethol yma o ran materion pwysig. 

 
(4) Gwahoddir aelodau perthnasol Bwrdd y Cabinet hefyd i fod yn 

bresennol yn y cyfarfod at ddibenion Craffu/Ymgynghori. 
 
(5) Gofynnir i aelodau'r Pwyllgor Craffu ddod â'u papurau ar gyfer Bwrdd 

y Cabinet i'r cyfarfod. 
 
 



1 

 

 
 

SOUTH WEST WALES CORPORATE JOINT COMMITTEE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
23RD SEPTEMBER 2022 

 
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 

 
Report Title:  Constitution of the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee 
 
 

Purpose of Report To provide an overview to members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 
structure of the South West Wales 
Corporate Joint Committee 

Recommendation It is recommended that members note the 

structure of the South West Wales 

Corporate Joint Committee 

Report Author Craig Griffiths 

Finance Officer N/A 

Legal Officer  Craig Griffiths 

 
Background: 
 
1. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (“the LGE Act”) created the 

framework for a consistent mechanism for regional collaboration between local 
government, namely Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs). The LGE Act provides for 
the establishment of CJCs through Regulations (CJC Establishment Regulations).  

 
2. The CJC will exercise functions relating to strategic development planning and 

regional transport planning. They will also be able to do things to promote the 
economic well-being of their areas. In contrast to other joint committee 
arrangements, CJCs are separate corporate bodies which can employ staff, hold 
assets and budgets, and undertake functions.  

 
3. The South West Wales CJC will comprise Carmarthenshire County Council, the City 

and County of Swansea Council, Pembrokeshire County Council and Neath Port 
Talbot County Borough Council (“the Constituent Councils”). In respect of some 
functions, both Pembrokeshire National Park and Brecon Beacons National Park will 
also be members (as set out below). 

 
The Governance of the CJC 
 
4. In order to meet its legislative obligations identified above, the CJC will have a 

decision making process. These are prescribed in the legislation. 
 
5. The members of the CJC are: 

(a) the executive leaders of 
a. Carmarthenshire County Council 

Tudalen3

Eitem yr Agenda5



2 

 

b. Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 
c. Pembrokeshire County Council 
d. The City and County of Swansea 

(b) A member of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority , and 
(c) A member of the Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority  

 
6. The CJC members are entitled to vote in relation to any matter to be decided by the 

CJC, except that the Brecon Beacons National Park and Pembrokeshire Coast 
National Park Authority (together the “NPAs”) members may only vote where the 
matter to be decided is about strategic planning functions (and associated issues), 
unless the Constituent Council members of the CJC choose, with the agreement of 
both the NPAs, to extend the NPA membership of the CJC to include other functions. 

 
7. Where a leader is, for any period, unable to discharge their functions, a Constituent 

Council must appoint another member of its executive/cabinet to discharge those 
functions on behalf of the Constituent Council member for that period.   

 
8. In order to implement the legislative requirements, the CJC will have four Sub 

Committees, with the chair of each Sub-Committee being drawn from the Leaders of 
the Constituent Councils (or their nominated deputies) and shared between the four 
authorities. It is proposed that the following sub-committees be established,  

  

Sub Committee Lead Officer Political Lead 

Regional Transport 
Planning 

Swansea Neath Port Talbot 

Economic Well Being – 
regional economic 
development 

Carmarthenshire Swansea 

Strategic Development 
Planning 

Pembrokeshire Carmarthen 

Economic Well Being- 
regional energy strategy  

Neath Port Talbot Pembrokeshire 

 
9. The additional representatives to each Sub Committee be comprised of the relevant 

Cabinet members of the four Constituent Councils (and the Chairpersons of the 
relevant National Parks authorities in respect of Strategic Development Planning).  

 
10. The Sub-Committee is then chaired by the Leader from the Constituent Council 

identified and supported by a chief executive from the authorities mentioned above. 
 
11. It should be noted that no member of a CJC shall be entitled to any additional 

remuneration as a result of membership of the CJC. 

12. CJCs have the flexibility for them to engage and involve others in their work through 
co-option. Who is co-opted and how they are co-opted (the terms of the co-option) 
will be for the CJC to decide. The benefits of co-opting to the CJC are: 

(a) to strengthen the breadth of experience and skills available to the CJC 

(b) to enable local input or to provide for local representation 

(c) to provide specialist expertise on specific issues. 

Tudalen4



3 

 

 
13. There are no restrictions on who can be co-opted, how long they are co-opted for, 

the purpose for which they are co-opted or if they are co-opted with or without voting 
rights (but see voting arrangements) – this is left entirely to the CJC to decide. A CJC 
will however be required to set out such matters in written notice to the co-opted 
member (see Regulation 9(2) of the CJC Establishment Regulations).  When co-
opting members a CJC might wish to consider (amongst other things): 

(a) the purpose for which co-opted members are co-opted, for example which function 

or functions; 

(b) the ‘term of co-option’, (how long they are co-opted for) for example a fixed period, 

renewed annually or indefinitely until the co-option is terminated; 

(c) whether co-opted members are to be co-opted with or without voting rights 

(d) If co-opted members are to have voting rights if those rights are for one, some or 

all functions, and / or on the governance and administrative arrangements of a 

CJC 

(e) whether co-opted members are co-opted onto the CJC itself or onto one of its sub-

committees, or both. 

14. Accordingly, following receipt of a signed co-option agreement, the following 
representatives have been appointed to the CJC 
(a) Mr Steven Wilks, Provost of Swansea University 

(b) Mr Medwin Hughes, Vice Chancellor of University of Wales, Trinity St David 

(c) Ms Maria Battle, Chair of Hywel Dda University Health Board 

(d) Ms Emma Woolett, Chair of Swansea Bay University Health Board 

15. The terms of reference for the appointment are: 
(a) Appointment for all functions of the CJC 

(b) Appointment on a non-voting basis 

(c) Renewed annually 

(d) Co-option to the CJC only 

(e) Compliance with the Member Code of Conduct for CJC Members. 

Governance and Audit Functions 
 
16. The CJC is required to establish a sub-committee to be known as the Governance 

and Audit Sub-Committee. 
 
17. The terms of reference of the sub-committee are stated in the CJC Establishment 

Regulations as: 
 

(a) review and scrutinise the CJC’s financial affairs; 
(b)  make reports and recommendations in relation to the CJC’s financial affairs; 
(c)  review and assess the risk management, internal control and corporate 

governance arrangements of the CJC; 
(d)  make reports and recommendations to the CJC on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of those arrangements; 
(e)  oversee the CJC’s internal and external audit arrangements; 
(f)  review any financial statements prepared by the CJC; 
(g)  exercise such other functions as the CJC may specify.  

 

Tudalen5



4 

 

18.  The CJC Establishment Regulations state that membership of the Governance and 
Audit Sub-Committee is at least one lay member and at least 2/3rds membership 
from the Constituent Councils. However this may be subject to change under the 
LGE Act. The Governance and Audit Sub-Committee may not exercise its functions if 
the membership of the sub-committee contravenes the membership as set out above 
and therefore the lay member(s) will need to be in place in order to meet as a sub-
committee. The draft Guidance provides that it is anticipated that the sub-committee 
will be required to meet once in every calendar year as a minimum.  

 
19. The chair of the Governance and Audit Sub-Committee must be a lay member.  
 
20. A Governance and Audit Sub-Committee has been established by the CJC 

comprising of Lay Member(s) to be drawn from Constituent Councils Governance 
and Audit Committees (or externally advertised if this is not possible) and members 
from each Constituent Council. This will ensure that the Governance and Audit 
Committee complies with proposed changes to the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 to have at least one third lay members. The appointment(s) will be 
made by the CJC. It should be noted that lay members will be remunerated in line 
with standard lay member payments set by the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales. 

 
21. The following representatives have been appointed by the CJC: 
 

Chairperson To be determined by the Committee 

Vice Chairperson To be determined by the Committee 

City and County of Swansea Councillor Jeff Jones 
Councillor Lesley Walton 
Paula O’ Connor (Lay Member) 

Carmarthenshire County Council Councillor Rob James 
Councillor Dai Thomas 
David MacGregor (Lay Member) 

Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council 

Councillor Mike Harvey 
Councillor Phil Rogers 
Joanna Jenkins (Lay Member) 

Pembrokeshire County Council Councillor Michael James 
Councillor Aled Thomas 
John Evans (Lay Member) 

 
 
Standards / Ethical Framework 
 
22. It will be important that members and co-opted members within a CJC are subject to 

the same standards of conduct as members of Constituent Councils. On application 
of the ethical framework a CJC will be able to adopt its own code of conduct for 
members. Until this point its members (including co-opted participants from 
Constituent Councils) will be subject to the relevant code of conduct of their local 
authorities. During this time members and co-opted participants from local authorities 
will be required to register any personal interests they have in the business of the 
CJC in their relevant principal council’s register of interest by providing written 
notification to their council’s Monitoring Officer. 

Tudalen6



5 

 

 
23. Rather than establish a separate Standards Committee to oversee functions of the 

CJC, one Constituent Council’s Standards Committee assumes the responsibility of 
overseeing standards for the CJC. 

 
24. The CJC have agreed that the Standards Committee of the authority that provides 

the Monitoring Officer for the CJC (in the first instance Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough Council) be the designated Standards Committee for the CJC. 

 
Scrutiny 
 
25.  Working with its Constituent Councils the South West Wales Corporate Joint 

Committee (“CJC”) will be required to put in place appropriate overview and scrutiny 
arrangements.  Scrutiny will be an important part of the democratic accountability of 
the CJC. It will be important for CJCs to consult on and agree the arrangements with 
its constituent councils.  

 
26. In considering the most effective and efficient approach to scrutiny, Welsh 

Government require Constituent Councils and CJCs to give thought to the benefits of 
a joint overview and scrutiny committee made up of the constituent councils.  The 
clear aim and ambition however must be to create, facilitate and encourage a clear 
democratic link back to the constituent councils.  

 
27. A CJC Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been established comprising three 

elected members from each constituent council be established to fulfil the Overview 
and Scrutiny Functions associated with the CJC. The functions of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee (to be enshrined in the CJC Constitution) are: 
 
(a) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection 

with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the CJC; 
 
(b) To make reports or recommendations to CJC respect to the discharge of any 

functions which are the responsibility of the CJC; 
 

(c) To make reports or recommendations to the CJC on matters which affect the 
CJC (insofar as the CJC is not, or CJC is not, under a duty to do those things 
by virtue of Section 22A of the Local Government Act 2000; 

 
28. CJC members and staff (including those working under the terms of a secondment or 

service level agreement) will have a duty to provide information to the scrutiny 
committee; attend committee meetings if requested to do so; and consider or 
respond to any report or recommendations made by a committee within the agreed 
arrangements and which relate to the CJC.  

 
29. It will be important that there is no overlap in scrutiny but ultimately members of 

constituent authorities will still be able to scrutinise the impact of the CJC on their 
locality. In essence, although not directly scrutinising the decisions of the CJC, the 
constituent councils will be looking at the impact of the CJC on their locality and how 
the decisions of the CJC are impacting the constituent council. Recent Welsh 
Government guidance failed to refer to the role of constituent council overview and 

Tudalen7



6 

 

scrutiny arrangements and representations have been made that guidance should be 
clearer in terms of expectations of both joint scrutiny as well as Constituent Councils’ 
member scrutiny, it being considered that the establishment of joint scrutiny 
arrangements should be addressed from the outset when governance issues are 
addressed to avoid potential drift. This would reflect the importance attached to Overview 
and Scrutiny rather than it appearing as a governance add-on. 

 
30. The following representatives have been appointed to the CJC: 
 

Chairperson To be determined by the Committee 

Vice Chairperson To be determined by the Committee 

City and County of Swansea Cllr P Black 
Cllr W Lewis 
Cllr M White 

Carmarthenshire County Council Cllr R James 
Cllr E Schiavone 
Cllr R Sparks 

Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council 

Cllr S. Pursey 
Cllr T Bowen 
Cllr R Davies 

Pembrokeshire County Council Cllr M John 
Cllr D Howlett 
Cllr M Tierney 

 
 
Financial Impacts:  
 
31. No impacts 
 
Integrated Impact Assessment: 
 
32. The CJC is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the socio-

economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability 
of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 

Tudalen8



7 

 

33. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public bodies 
in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development means 
the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 
 

34. There is no requirement for an Integrated Impact Assessment for this report as the 
setting up of the CJC is underpinned by legislation and that this report is to establish 
governance arrangements in accordance with legislation. This will be kept under 
review with any future reports considering whether impacts require consideration. 

 
Workforce Impacts: 
 
35. There are no workforce impacts associated with this report. 
 
Legal Impacts: 
 
36. Part 5 of the LGE Act provides for the establishment, through regulations, of CJCs and 

compliance will be had with this and other legislative obligations in the establishment 
of CJCs. In particular the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee Regulations 
came into force on 1st April 2021 and set out an initial framework for example, that the 
CJC should be established and the timeframes for the discharging of specific functions. 
However a series of further Regulations are being drafted and consulted on by Welsh 
Government. The Welsh Government has concluded its consultation on the Corporate 
Joint Committees (General) (No.2) (Wales) Regulations 2021. The Welsh Government 
is also currently consulting on draft statutory guidance. A third stage of Regulations 
will put in place further legislation for the operation of the CJCs and its functions, which 
Welsh Government are currently being consulted on. A fourth stage will put in place 
any remaining provisions that a CJC might need. 

 
Risk Management Impacts:  
 
37. Failure to have constituted the CJC means the CJC would be unable to take any 

decisions, and accordingly would be in breach of the legal requirements imposed under 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (exposing each constituent 
council and national park authority to challenge) along with the reputational risks that 
such non compliance will bring. 

 
Consultation: 
  
38. There is no requirement for consultation in respect of this report. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision:  
 
39. To ensure appropriate governance arrangements are in place for the CJC to make 

decisions and compliance is had to the legislative requirements that are applicable to 
the CJC. 

 
Implementation of Decision: 
 

Tudalen9



8 

 

40. Not applicable 
 
Appendices:  
 
41. None 
 
List of Background Papers: 
 
42. None 

Tudalen10



1 

 

 
 

SOUTH WEST WALES CORPORATE JOINT COMMITTEE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
23RD SEPTEMBER 2022 

 
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 

 
Report Title:  Terms of Reference of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

Purpose of Report To note the terms of reference of the South 
West Wales Corporate Joint Committee 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Recommendation It is recommended that  

(a) members note the terms of reference 

of the South West Wales Corporate 

Joint Committee Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee. 

 

(b) Members agree the content of their 

Forward Work Programme 

Report Author Craig Griffiths 

Finance Officer N/A 

Legal Officer  Craig Griffiths 

 
Background: 
 
1. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (“the LGE Act”) created the 

framework for a consistent mechanism for regional collaboration between local 
government, namely Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs). The LGE Act provides for 
the establishment of CJCs through Regulations (CJC Establishment Regulations).  

 
2. The CJC will exercise functions relating to strategic development planning and 

regional transport planning. They will also be able to do things to promote the 
economic well-being of their areas. In contrast to other joint committee 
arrangements, CJCs are separate corporate bodies which can employ staff, hold 
assets and budgets, and undertake functions.  

 
3. The South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee will comprise Carmarthenshire 

County Council, the City and County of Swansea Council, Pembrokeshire County 
Council and Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council (“the Constituent Councils”). 
In respect of some functions (strategic planning), both Pembrokeshire National Park 
and Brecon Beacons National Park will also be members 

 
Role of Scrutiny 
 

Tudalen11

Eitem yr Agenda6



2 

 

4.  Working with its Constituent Councils the South West Wales Corporate Joint 
Committee (“CJC”) will be required to put in place appropriate overview and scrutiny 
arrangements.  Scrutiny will be an important part of the democratic accountability of 
the CJC.  

 
5. In considering the most effective and efficient approach to scrutiny, Welsh 

Government require Constituent Councils and CJCs to give thought to the benefits of 
a joint overview and scrutiny committee made up of the constituent councils.  The 
clear aim and ambition however must be to create, facilitate and encourage a clear 
democratic link back to the constituent councils.  

 
6. Accordingly, at the meeting of the CJC in January 2022 and subsequently in July 

2022, the CJC established the CJC Overview and Scrutiny Committee comprising 
three elected members from each constituent council be established to fulfil the 
Overview and Scrutiny Functions associated with the CJC. The functions of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (tenshrined in the CJC Constitution) are: 
 
(a) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection 

with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the CJC; 
 
(b) To make reports or recommendations to CJC respect to the discharge of any 

functions which are the responsibility of the CJC; 
 

(c) To make reports or recommendations to the CJC on matters which affect the 
CJC (insofar as the CJC is not, or CJC is not, under a duty to do those things 
by virtue of Section 22A of the Local Government Act 2000; 

 
7 CJC members and staff (including those working under the terms of a secondment or 

service level agreement) will have a duty to provide information to the scrutiny 
committee; attend committee meetings if requested to do so; and consider or 
respond to any report or recommendations made by a committee within the agreed 
arrangements and which relate to the CJC.  

 
8. It will be important that there is no overlap in scrutiny but ultimately members of 

constituent authorities will still be able to scrutinise the impact of the CJC on their 
locality. In essence, although not directly scrutinising the decisions of the CJC, the 
constituent councils will be looking at the impact of the CJC on their locality and how 
the decisions of the CJC are impacting the constituent council. Recent Welsh 
Government guidance failed to refer to the role of constituent council overview and 
scrutiny arrangements and representations have been made that guidance should be 
clearer in terms of expectations of both joint scrutiny as well as Constituent Councils’ 
member scrutiny, it being considered that the establishment of joint scrutiny 
arrangements should be addressed from the outset when governance issues are 
addressed to avoid potential drift. This would reflect the importance attached to 
Overview and Scrutiny rather than it appearing as a governance add-on. 

 
9. It is proposed that the following representatives be appointed to the CJC Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

Chairperson To be determined by the Committee 

Tudalen12



3 

 

Vice Chairperson To be determined by the Committee 

City and County of Swansea Cllr P Black 
Cllr W Lewis 
Cllr M White 

Carmarthenshire County Council Cllr R James 
Cllr E Schiavone 
Cllr R Sparks 

Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council 

Cllr S. Pursey 
Cllr T Bowen 
Cllr R Davies 

Pembrokeshire County Council Cllr M John 
Cllr D Howlett 
Cllr M Tierney 

 
10. Attached at Appendix 1 are the Terms of Reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub 

Committee and Procedural Rules that the committee will operate under. 
 
Forward Work Programme 
 
11. As indicated above, the role of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee is set out in 

the aforementioned procedural rules, as being: 
 

a)        Assist the CJC in reviewing service delivery and performance through in-
depth analysis;  

b)         Review and scrutinise the decisions made by and the performance of the CJC and/or 
any Chief Officers both in relation to individual decisions and over time;  

c)          Review and scrutinise the performance of the CJC in relation to its policy objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas;  

d)         Conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of service or 
policy issues and possible options;  

e)        Consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 
participation in the development of policy or the improvement of services;  

f)         Question Members of the CJC or any Sub-Committee about their proposed policies, 
decisions and performance;  

g)        Make recommendations to the CJC and/or appropriate Sub-Committee and/or other 
constitutional bodies arising from the outcome of the overview & scrutiny process;  

h)        Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and invite 
reports from them about their activities and performance;  

i)          Question and gather evidence from any person outside of the Authority (with 
their consent); 

j)          Assist the CJC in the review of its budget and policies by in-depth analysis of 
policy issues; 

k)        Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether 
national, regional or local, to ensure that collaborative working enhances the 
interests of local people. 

 
12. Accordingly, it will be necessary for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to agree 

their Forward Work Programme in line with these functions.  
 

Tudalen13



4 

 

13. It should be noted that the implementation of any regional plans and policies will fall 
within the purview of the subject related sub-committees that the CJC have 
established. A key question the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may wish to 
determine is whether monitoring implementation of these policies will add value, given 
it will duplicate what in essence is the role of the sub-committees. Similar principles 
would apply to the work of the Governance and Audit Committee. 

 
14. Members, for example, may wish to consider some pre-scrutinyw ork on the Regional 

Transport Plan that will shortly be prepared. In addition, they may wish to consider the 
evolving governance and offer a view, or query how the implementation of the Regional 
Energy and Economic Development plans are to be organised? 

 
Financial Impacts:  
 
15. The financial impacts of adopting this Constitution and associated documents will be 

incorporated into the budget for 2022/2023 and future reports to the CJC. 
 
Integrated Impact Assessment: 
 
16. The CJC is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the socio-

economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability 
of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
17. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public bodies 

in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development means 
the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 
 

18. There is no requirement for an Integrated Impact Assessment for this report as the 
setting up of the CJC is underpinned by legislation and that this report is to establish 
governance arrangements in accordance with legislation. This will be kept under 
review with any future reports considering whether impacts require consideration. 

 
Workforce Impacts: 
 

Tudalen14



5 

 

19. There are no workforce impacts associated with this report. 
 
Legal Impacts: 
 
20. Part 5 of the LGE Act provides for the establishment, through regulations, of CJCs and 

compliance will be had with this and other legislative obligations in the establishment 
of CJCs. In particular the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee Regulations 
came into force on 1st April 2021 and set out an initial framework for example, that the 
CJC should be established and the timeframes for the discharging of specific functions. 
However a series of further Regulations are being drafted and consulted on by Welsh 
Government. The Welsh Government has concluded its consultation on the Corporate 
Joint Committees (General) (No.2) (Wales) Regulations 2021. The Welsh Government 
is also currently consulting on draft statutory guidance. A third stage of Regulations 
will put in place further legislation for the operation of the CJCs and its functions, which 
Welsh Government are currently being consulted on. A fourth stage will put in place 
any remaining provisions that a CJC might need. 

 
Risk Management Impacts:  
 
21. Failure to establish an Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be in breach of the 

legal requirements imposed under the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 
2021 (exposing each constituent council to challenge) along with the reputational risks 
that such non compliance will bring. 

 
Consultation: 
  
22. There is no requirement for consultation in respect of this report. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision:  
 
23. To ensure appropriate scrutiny arrangements are in place for the CJC to make 

decisions and compliance is had to the legislative requirements that are applicable to 
the CJC. 

 
Implementation of Decision: 
 
24. This decision is proposed for immediate implementation 
 
Appendices:  
 
25. Appendix 1 - Terms of Reference and Procedural Rules 
 
List of Background Papers: 
 
26. None 
  

Tudalen15



6 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

ARTICLE 7 OF SOUTH WEST WALES CORPORATE JOINT COMMITTEE 
CONSTITUTION 

Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committees 
 
7.1 General Roles 
 

The CJC will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee to discharge the 
following functions:- 

 
(a) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection 

with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the CJC; 
 

(b) To make reports or recommendations to the CJC with respect to the discharge 
of any functions which are the responsibility of the CJC; 

 
 The power of an Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee under (a) above, to review or 

scrutinise a decision made but not implemented, includes power to recommend that 
the decision be reconsidered by the person who made it, or to arrange for its function 
under (a) above so far as it relates to the decision, to be exercised by the authority.  
This is known as the “call-in” power, the details of which are covered in the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules. 

 
7.2 The Sub-Committees and Specific Roles 
 
 In discharging the functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 

2000 and Section 35 of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the 
CJC will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee with the specific roles and 
terms of reference as set out herein. 
  
a)        Assist the CJC in reviewing service delivery and performance through in-

depth analysis;  
b)         Review and scrutinise the decisions made by and the performance of the CJC and/or 

any Chief Officers both in relation to individual decisions and over time;  
c)           Review and scrutinise the performance of the CJC in relation to its policy 

objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas;  
d)         Conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of service or 

policy issues and possible options;  
e)         Consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 

participation in the development of policy or the improvement of services;  
f)         Question Members of the CJC or any Sub-Committee about their proposed policies, 

decisions and performance;  
g)         Make recommendations to the CJC and/or appropriate Sub-Committee and/or other 

constitutional bodies arising from the outcome of the overview & scrutiny process;  
h)         Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and invite 

reports from them about their activities and performance;  
i)          Question and gather evidence from any person outside of the Authority (with 

their consent); 

Tudalen16



7 

 

j)          Assist the CJC in the review of its budget and policies by in-depth analysis of 
policy issues; 

k)         Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether 
national, regional or local, to ensure that collaborative working enhances the 
interests of local people. 

 
7.3 Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Cub-Committee 
 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee will conduct their proceedings in 

accordance with the Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out at Appendix A to this Article 
and the CJC Procedure Rules 

 
7.4 Membership and Quorum 
 
   
 The Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee shall comprise 12 elected members, with 

three from each constituent council comprising the CJC. 
 
 The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee shall be at least 4 

members of which there must be one from each constituent Council. 
Appendix A 
 

Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 
1. The number and arrangements for Scrutiny Committees 
 
1.1 The CJC will have the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee set out in this 

Constitution with the roles and terms of reference as set out therein and will appoint 
to them as it considers appropriate from time to time. Such a Committee may appoint 
sub-committees. 

 
1.2 References in these procedure rules to an Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee 

and include any sub-committees or working groups of such Committees. 
 
2. Members of Scrutiny Committees 
 
2.1  No members of the CJC may be members of a Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.2 The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee shall be at least 4 

members of which there must be one from each constituent Council. 
 
3. Co-opted members 
 
 Each Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee shall be entitled to recommend to CJC 

the appointment of a number of people as non-voting co-optees. 
 
4. Meetings of the Scrutiny Committees 
 
4.1 Unless otherwise agreed by the Chair and Vice Chair there shall be at least 4 

ordinary meetings of each Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee in each year.  In 

Tudalen17



8 

 

addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time by the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Chair. 

 
4.2 An extraordinary meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee may be called 

by the Chair of the Committee, by any 5 members of the Committee giving written 
notice of a requisition to the Chief Executive or by the Chief Executive if they consider 
it necessary or appropriate. 

 
5. Appointment of Chairs of Scrutiny Committees 
 
5.1 The Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee shall be appointed to that 

Committee by the members of that Scrutiny Committee. The chair shall not be from 
the authority that hosts the Joint Scrutiny function or from the Chair of the CJC. 

 
5.2 Where the Chair is appointed by the Chairman and Overview and Scrutiny Sub 

Committee itself the appointment shall be made by simple resolution of the 
Committee.   

 
5.3 Where there has been a failure to make appointment of Committee Chairs under 

Section 70 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 the appointment falls to 
be made by the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee under Section 71(5) and (6) of 
the Measure. 

 
6. Functions of Scrutiny Committees 
 
6.1 The functions of an Overview and Scrutiny Committees are:- 
 

(a) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection 
with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the CJC; 

 
(b) To make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive with 

respect to the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the 
CJC; 

 
(c) To make reports or recommendations to the CJC on matters which affect the 

CJC or the inhabitants of that CJC area (insofar as the CJC is not, or CJC is 
not, under a duty to do those things by virtue of Section 22A of the Local 
Government Act 2000; 

 
7. Forward Plan and Other Information 
 
7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee will be responsible for setting its own 

work programme and in doing so it shall take into account the wishes of members on 
that Committee. 

 
7.2 The Scrutiny Committees shall comply with regulations made by the Welsh Ministers 

in relation to the provision of prescribed information about the exercise of Scrutiny 
functions. 

 
8. Agenda Items 

Tudalen18



9 

 

 
8.1 Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee shall be entitled to give 8 

clear working days written notice before the date of the next meeting to the Chief 
Executive that he/she wishes an item relevant to the functions of the Committee or 
Sub-Committee to be included on the agenda for, and be discussed at, a meeting of 
the Committee or Sub-Committee. 

 
8.2 On receipt of such a request, the Chief Executive shall ensure that it is included on 

the agenda for the next or subsequent meeting (the determination as to which 
meeting to rest with the Committee chair). 

 
8.3 Any elected member of the CJC constituent councils who is not a member of a 

Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee may give 8 working days written notice before 
the date of the next meeting to the Chief Executive that he/she wishes a matter which 
is relevant to the functions of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee to be 
included on the agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee.  If the Chief 
Executive receives such a notification, then it will be included on the agenda for the 
next or a subsequent meeting (the determination as to which meeting to rest with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee Chair).  Such member may then attend the 
Committee to speak, but not vote, nor move, second or amend any motion on that 
item. 

 
8.4 In exercising his or her power to give notice requiring an item to be placed on an 

agenda under paragraph 8.3 the member must have regard to any guidance issued 
by the Welsh Ministers. 

 
8.5 A “CJC” matter means a matter:- 
 

(a) Which relates to the discharge of any function of the CJC; or 
 
(b) Affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any 

person who lives or works in that area. 
 
(c) and in either case is not an “excluded matter”. 

 
8.6 An “excluded matter” is a matter which comes under Section 19 of the Police and 

Justice Act 2006 or a matter of a description specified by order of the Welsh 
Ministers. 

 
8.7 When a Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee has considered a requisition to place 

an item on the agenda of a Committee under paragraph 8.3 above, the Member(s) 
concerned shall be advised of the outcome of the Sub-Committee’s deliberations. 

. 
8.8 Any non-Sub-Committee Member may also as of right (subject to any relevant Code 

provisions) attend in respect of a particular item (or items) of interest/concern with 
prior notification to the Chief Executive and Chair.  The Member may speak, but not 
move second or amend a motion.  The attendance in the latter context is not meant to 
relate to attendance and participation for all or most of the items on the agenda, and if 
such a request is made, the decision on attendance shall rest with the Sub-
Committee. 

Tudalen19



10 

 

 
8.9 The agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee may include a schedule of 

forthcoming or other CJC issues, and any member of the Committee is entitled to 
raise any of those issues at the meeting. 

 
8.10The Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committees shall also respond, as their work 

programme permits, to requests from the CJC and if it considers it appropriate the 
executive, to review particular areas of CJC activity.   Where they do so, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Sub Committee shall report their findings and any recommendations 
back to the CJC and/or executive. 

 
9. Policy Review and Development 
 
9.1 The CJC has the responsibility for proposing the annual budget, and the policies 

under the policy framework to the CJC. 
 
9.2 In relation to the development of other matters not forming part of its policy and 

budget framework, Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee or Sub-Committees may 
make proposals to the executive for developments in so far as they relate to matters 
within their terms of reference, but there shall be consultation with the executive to 
avoid any duplication of work. 

 
9.3 Scrutiny Committees may hold enquiries and investigate the available options for 

future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to 
assist them in this process.  They may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold 
public meetings, commission research and do all other things that they reasonably 
consider necessary to inform their deliberations.  They may ask witnesses to attend to 
address them on any matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers, 
assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so. 

 
9.4 Once it has formed proposals for development, the Overview and Scrutiny Sub 

Committee shall submit these for consideration by the CJC (if the proposals are 
consistent with the existing budgetary and policy framework), or to the CJC as 
appropriate (e.g. if the recommendation would require a departure from or a change 
to the agreed budget and policy framework).  These recommendations shall be 
considered at the next available meeting of the executive or the CJC, or at such later 
meeting with the agreement of the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Committee, or 
CJC, as the case may be. 

 
9.5 If a Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee cannot agree on one single proposal to 

the CJC as appropriate, then up to one minority proposal may be prepared and 
submitted for consideration by the CJC or executive with the majority proposal. 

 
9.6 Scrutiny Committees will have access to the CJCs forward work programme for 

decisions and intentions for consultation.  Even where an item is not the subject of 
detailed proposals from a Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee following a 
consideration of possible policy/service developments, the committee will be able to 
respond in the course of the executive’s consultation process. 

 
9.7 Both the CJC and Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee shall draw up co-ordinated 

Tudalen20



11 

 

work programmes where:- 
 

(a) An Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee will consider appropriate draft 
policies or plans being drawn up by the CJC under the policy framework. 

 
(b) An Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee will have a direct involvement in a 

review of existing policies/procedures and make recommendations to the 
executive.    
 

(c) An Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee may be asked by the CJC to join 
with it in a policy development task, which may not form part of the policy and 
budget framework. 

 
10. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee Members to Gain Access to 

Documents 
 
10.1 In addition to their rights as Councillors, elected members from constituency councils 

of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee have the additional right to documents, 
and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 
The same shall apply to the NPAs 

 
10.2 Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the CJC and 

Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee as appropriate depending on the particular 
matter under consideration. 

 
11. Members and Officers Giving Account 
 
11.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee may scrutinise and review decisions 

made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any CJC functions.  As well 
as reviewing documentation in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any other 
member of the CJC or Officers of the CJC to attend before it to explain in relation to 
matters within their remit: 

 
(a) Any particular decisions or proposed decisions or series of decisions; and/or 

 
(b) The extent to which the actions taken implement CJC policy; and/or 
 
(c) Their performance  
 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.   

 
11.2 Where any member or officer is required to attend a Overview and Scrutiny Sub 

Committee under this provision, the chair of that Committee will inform the Chief 
Executive who shall inform the member or officer in writing giving at least 8 clear 
working days’ notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to attend.  The notice 
will state the nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account 
and whether any papers are required to be produced for the committee.  Where the 
account to be given to the committee will require the production of a report, then the 
member or officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of 
that documentation. 

Tudalen21



12 

 

 
11.3 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to attend on the 

required date then the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee shall in consultation 
with the member or officer arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 
11.4 It is ultimately the CJC members which will be required to answer questions about its 

policies and decisions.  Officers contributions should as far as possible be confined to 
questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions, though they can 
be asked to explain and give reasons for decisions they themselves have taken under 
delegated authority. 

 
12. Attendance by CJC Members 
 
12.1 There would also be attendance by the relevant CJC members as a standing 

arrangement on policy, budget or other forthcoming issues, in order to provide 
evidence and information for the Scrutiny Committee, and to ensure the “executive” 
and “scrutiny” works constructively and inclusively together in the best interests of the 
CJC and its communities. 

 
12.2 In particular CJC Members may attend any meeting of a Overview and Scrutiny Sub 

Committee which is undertaking pre-scrutiny of any proposed executive decision. 
 
13. Attendance by Others 
 
13.1 A Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee may invite people other than those people 

referred to in paragraph 12 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern 
and/or answer questions.  It may for example wish to hear from residents, 
stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of the public sector and shall 
invite such people to attend.  Attendance is entirely voluntary. 

 
13.2 A Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee shall make arrangements to enable all 

persons who live or work in the area of the CJC to bring to the attention of the 
Committee their views on any matter under consideration by the Committee. 

 
13.3 These arrangements shall include the publication on the CJC’s website of the forward 

work programme of the Committee and any agenda for a meeting of the Committee 
and or the publication of the agenda in accordance with the statutory rules contained 
in the Local Government Act 1972 and Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 
2021. 

 
13.4 Persons who live or work in the CJC’s area may submit written representations on 

any matter under consideration by the Committee by submission to the Chief 
Executive up until one working day before any relevant meeting of the Committee and 
these representations shall be reported to the Committee either in full or in summary 
at the discretion of the Chair. Where matters relate to the strategic planning function 
additional provisions may require consideration in accordance with those legislative 
requirements. 

 
13.5 In making any report or recommendations the Committee shall comply with Section 

21F of the Local Government Act 2000. 

Tudalen22



13 

 

 
13.6 The Chief Executives (or any so officers nominated by them) of Constituent Councils 

and National Park Authorities shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee in an advisory capacity, irrespective of whether the meeting 
is to be considered in public or private. 

 
14. Call-in 
 
14.1 When a decision is made by the CJC, a committee of the CJC or an individual 

member of the CJC, a summary of the decision shall be circulated by the Chief 
Executive (normally within 2 days of the decision being made and where possible by 
electronic means) to all members of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Sub 
Committee(with copies to all other members of CJC). 

 
14.2 That notice containing the decision summary will bear the date on which it is 

published and will specify that the decision will come into force, and may then be 
implemented, on the expiry of 3 calendar days after the publication of the decision, 
unless the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee, or the requisite number of 
members thereof (referred to in paragraph 14.3 below) objects to it and calls it in. 

 
14.3 Except as provided in Paragraph 14.11 if the Chief Executive shall receive during the 

call in period a request:- 
 

(a) by virtue of a decision of a relevant Scrutiny Committee, or   
 
(b) by three or more members of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee 

together with the Chair (or in the absence of the Chair the Vice Chair), or 
 
(c) by one third or more of the Members of a relevant Scrutiny Committee 

 
The Chief Executive shall convene a meeting of the relevant  Overview and Scrutiny 
Sub Committee on such date as it agreed with the Chair (or Vice Chair in the absence 
of the chair) (but in any case not later than seven working days of the decision or 
request for call in 

 
14.4 Where it is not possible in the time available for the requisite number of members to 

call-in the decision, the Chair (or in absence the Vice Chair) may allow the call-in if it 
is considered that the circumstances so warrant a call-in. 

 
14.5 For the purposes of Paragraph 14.3 a member for the above purposes shall be a 

voting member of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee 
 
14.6 Having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee may refer 

it back to the decision making body or person for reconsideration, setting out in 
writing the nature of its concerns or refer the matter to full CJC. If referred to the 
decision maker, that body or person shall then reconsider within a further 10 working 
days (or such other time as may be agreed the decision maker with the Chair – or in 
absence Vice Chair – of the Scrutiny Committee) amending the decision or not, 
before adopting a final decision. 

 

Tudalen23



14 

 

14.7 If following the call-in, the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee decides not to refer 
the matter back to the decision making body or person; the decision shall take effect 
on the date of the Scrutiny Meeting. 

 
14.8 If the matter was referred to full CJC and the CJC does not object to a decision which 

has been made, then no further action is necessary and the decision will be effective 
in accordance with the provision below.  However, if the CJC does object, the CJC 
will refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision making person or body, 
together with the CJC’s views on the decision.  That decision making body or person 
shall choose whether to amend the decision or not before reaching a final decision 
and implementing it.  Where the decision was taken by the executive as a whole or a 
committee of it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider within 10 working days of 
the CJC request.  Ultimately, a decision which is within the definition of executive 
functions, and which is in accordance with the policy and financial framework agreed 
by the CJC, will be one for the executive to take.   

 
14.9 If the CJC does not refer the decision back to the decision making body or person, 

the decision will become effective on the date of the CJC meeting.  
 
14.10 There can only be one call-in of the particular executive decision.  If the decision is 

reconsidered by the decision maker under the procedures above, the decision then 
made after reconsideration shall be final and may be implemented immediately. 

 
14.11 Exceptions to call-in 
 

The call in procedures above shall not apply in the following cases:- 
 

(a) Where the decision being taken by the CJC is urgent.  A decision will be urgent 
if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would prejudice the 
interests of the CJC or the public interest.  The formal record of the decision, 
and the summary sent to Scrutiny members shall state the opinion of the 
decision making body that the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not 
subject to call-in.  The other provisions in the Access to Information Rules shall 
apply to the decision record.  However, the decision may only be taken if the 
chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee(or in absence the 
Vice Chair) decides to allow the decision to proceed for implementation as a 
matter of urgency.  Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to 
the next available meeting of the relevant Scrutiny Committee. 

 
(b) In respect of Officers executive decisions under their delegated urgency 

powers.  A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in 
process would prejudice the interests of the CJC or the public interest.  The 
formal record of the decision shall state the opinion of the officer that the 
decision shall state the opinion of the officer that the decision is an urgent one, 
and therefore not subject to call-in.  The other provisions of the Access to 
Information Rules shall apply to the decision record.  However, the decision 
may only be taken if the chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Sub 
Committee (or in the absence the Vice Chair) decides to allow the decision to 
proceed for implementation as a matter of urgency.  Where an Officer takes a 
decision under his delegated urgency powers there shall be consultation and in 

Tudalen24



15 

 

respect of the decision with the CJC Chair   Decisions taken as a matter of 
urgency must be reported to the next available meeting of the CJC and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee. The urgency action shall include the 
standard compliance statement. 

 
(c) In respect of other (non-urgency) Officer decisions under delegated powers. 
 
(d) Where the CJC take a decision, implementation of which is deferred pending 

consultation with the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee and 
whereby subsequently there are no objections or alternative proposals raised 
at the Committee under that consultation process by a majority of the 
Committee members present.  On this basis, the call-in procedure will not 
apply to the executive decision which can be implemented immediately 
following the Scrutiny meeting.  However, if there are any objections or 
alternative proposals by a majority of the Committee members present, the 
matter will be referred back to CJC to consider those views. 

 
(e) Where the CJC, a Committee of the CJC or an officer take an decision which is 

contrary to the CJC’s policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget approved by full CJC if the decision is a matter of 
urgency.  A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in 
process would prejudice the CJC’s or the publics’ interests.  However, the 
decision may only be taken if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of 
the full CJC; and if the chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Sub 
Committee decides to allow the decision to proceed for implementation as a 
matter of urgency.  Where an Officer takes a decision here under his delegated 
urgency powers, there shall be consultation in respect of the decision with the 
CJC Chair (or in the absence of either or both, any two CJC members).  The 
reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full CJC and 
the agreement to allow the decision to proceed for implementation as a matter 
of urgency must be noted on the record of the decision.  Following the 
decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next available CJC 
meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why the decision was 
treated as a matter of urgency. 

 
14.12 Members who have requested that a decision be called in shall be advised of the 

outcome of that call-in. 
 
14.13 The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be monitored, and 

a report submitted to CJC with proposals for review if necessary.  
 
15. The Party Whip 
 
15.1 Section 78(1) of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides that a 

Member of an Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee must not vote on a question at 
a meeting of that Committee if before the meeting the Member has been given a party 
whip relating to the question (known as prohibited party whip) where they are a 
member of a political party. 

 
15.2 The statutory definition of a party whip is reproduced at paragraph 15.6. 

Tudalen25



16 

 

 
15.3 Any vote is given in breach of the rule declared in paragraph 15.1 must be 

disregarded. 
 
15.4 It is for the person chairing the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee 

to determine whether a member of the Committee has been given a prohibited party 
whip in relation to the meeting. 

 
15.5 At each meeting of an Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee each Member must 

declare any prohibited party whip which the Member has been given in relation to the 
meeting and the minutes of the meeting shall record all such declarations. 

 
15.6 The definition of party whip in Section 81(10) of the Local Government (Wales) 

Measure 2011 is: 
 

“party whip means an instruction (however expressed) which:- 
 

(a) is given on behalf of a political group on a local authority; 
 

(b) is given to a person (P) who is:- 
 

(i) a member of the political group, and 
 

(ii) a member of a Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee of the Local 
Authority; 

 
(c) is an instruction as to how P should vote on a question falling to be decided by 

the committee; and 
 
(d) if not complied with by P, would be likely to make P liable to disciplinary action 

by the political group which gives the instruction; 
 

“political group” means a group of members of a local authority that is a political group 
for the purposes of Part 1 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.” 

 
16. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee Meetings 
 
16.1 Scrutiny Committees and sub-committees shall consider the following business:- 
 

(a) Minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(b) Consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a decision in relation 

to call-in of a decision; 
 
(c) Responses of the executive to proposals of the Scrutiny Committee; and, in the 

case of the committee designated with the powers contained in Section 35 of 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and 

 
(d) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

 

Tudalen26



17 

 

16.2 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee conducts investigations (e.g. with a 
view to policy development), the committee may also ask people to attend to give 
evidence at committee meetings which are to be conducted in accordance with the 
following principles: 

 
(a) That the investigation is conducted fairly and all members of the committee be 

given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak; 

 
(b) That those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated with respect 

and courtesy; and 
 
(c) That the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 

investigation or analysis. 
 

16.3 Following an investigation or review, the committee/sub-committee shall prepare a 
proposal for submission to the executive and/or CJC as appropriate, and shall make 
its proposal and findings public. 

 
16.4 No member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he/she has been 

directly involved and the Members Code of Conduct rules will be applicable here. 
 
17. Publication of Reports Recommendations and Responses Confidential and 

Exempt Information 
 

In publishing any report recommendation or responses an Overview and Scrutiny Sub 
Committee shall comply with the provisions of Section 21D of the Local Government 
Act 2000. 

 

 
 

Tudalen27



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



1 

 

 
 

SOUTH WEST WALES CORPORATE JOINT COMMITTEE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
23RD SEPTEMBER 2022 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Report Title:  South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee – Forward Work 

Programme of the Chief Executive 
 
 

Purpose of Report To update members of the CJC on the 
current forward work programme of the CJC 
and to highlight the role of the Chief 
Executive of the CJC and arrangements that 
are to be in place for the discharge of 
services 

Recommendation It is recommended that: 

 

Members note the current work 

programmes of the South West Wales 

Corporate Joint Committee to implement 

the requirements of the Local Government 

and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 

 

Members note the statutory responsibility of 

the Chief Executive of the South West 

Wales Corporate Joint Committee 

 

Report Author Karen Jones 

Finance Officer N/A 

Legal Officer  Craig Griffiths 

 
Background: 
 
1. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (“the LGE Act”) created the 

framework for a consistent mechanism for regional collaboration between local 
government, namely Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs). The LGE Act provides for 
the establishment of CJCs through Regulations (CJC Establishment Regulations).  

 
2. The South West Wales CJC will comprise Carmarthenshire County Council, the City 

and County of Swansea Council, Pembrokeshire County Council and Neath Port 
Talbot County Borough Council (“the Constituent Councils”). In respect of some 
functions, both Pembrokeshire National Park and Brecon Beacons National Park will 
also be members (as set out below). 

 
Remit of the CJC 

Tudalen29

Eitem yr Agenda7



2 

 

 
4. The CJC has prescribed functions related to the preparation of the Regional 

Transport Plan, Strategic Development Plan and the exercise of Economic Wellbeing 

powers. These are set out specifically as follows: 

(a) Economic well-being (section 76 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 

2021) 

(b) Transport policies (section 108(1)(a) and (2A)(a) of Part 2 of the Transport Act 2000) 

(c) Strategic development plan (Part 6 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004) 

5. It should be noted that the underlying policy intent in the development of the 

legislation which underpins the CJC is that a CJC should be treated as a member of 

the ‘local government family’ and, where appropriate, should largely be subject to the 

same powers and duties as local authorities in the way that they operate. Work 

continues to co-develop the legislative framework including through the recent 

consultation on the draft Corporate Joint Committees (General) (No. 2) (Wales) 

Regulations 2021. CJCs, as public bodies undertaking public functions, are subject to 

the necessary public body duties that already exist in legislation. This includes the 

Sustainable Development and Well-being Duty under the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WFG Act”), the requirement to produce a 

Strategic Equality Plan and the duty to prepare and publish a strategy for contributing 

to the eradication of child poverty in Wales under the Children and Families (Wales) 

Measure 2010 (“the 2010 Measure”).  

6. It is proposed, at this stage, that only the statutory duties in respect of CJC and the 

legislative obligations will be implemented, save that the CJC will consider a regional 

energy strategy as part of its Economic Wellbeing function. 

Current Work Streams 

Economic Delivery 
 
7. Consideration will given to how the relationship between the CJC and the Swansea 

Bay City Deal arrangements will evolve over time. In the first instance steps will be 
taken to align the arrangements to ensure programmes of work are complementary. 
A paper setting out the issues that would need to be addressed to achieve full 
integration of the arrangements will be developed during 2022/23. 

 
8. In the interim, constituent councils will be taking to their respective decision makers a 

draft Regional Economic Delivery Plan in early 2022 which will require adoption by 
the CJC in Spring 2022. 

 
9. Following this, it would be proposed that steps be undertaken to programme the 

Regional Economic Delivery Plan, scoping potential funding bids for future capital 
investment. 

 
Strategic Planning 
 

Tudalen30



3 

 

10. The CJC will have a statutory duty to prepare a Strategic Development Plan (SDP). 
The production of an SDP is a mandatory function and will require substantive 
resources to be committed over a period to be defined in accordance with clearly 
deliverables and itemised in a ‘Delivery Agreement’. The CJC is required to agree and 
submit the Delivery Agreement to Welsh Government as soon as possible after the 
Committee is formed. National Park Authorities are members of the CJC but are 
entitled to vote in relation to strategic development planning purposes only. 

11. The SDP will be the first ever regional scale Development Plan for the South West 
Wales area (note that SDPs will also need to be produced for the three other planning 
regions of Wales), under which Local Development Plans (LDPs) and/or ‘LDP lites’ will 
still need to be produced at Local Planning Authority level. Planning decisions in future 
will be made having regard to the SDP, as well as adopted LDPs/LDP Lites and Future 
Wales: the National Plan 2040. The SDP will focus on those issues, topics or places 
that are considered key to delivering wider than local issues and responding to the key 
drivers of change for the region. It will cover issues such as major centres for economic 
growth, major housing allocations (including new settlements) and strategic areas for 
protection including Green Belts.  

12. Regulations setting out the specific procedures for preparing an SDP are being 
produced by the Welsh Government, which are scheduled to come into force in 
February/March 2022.  Advisory Notes have already been published by Government 
in the interim, which alongside Future Wales, Planning Policy Wales and the 
Development Plans Manual, highlight various statutory key stages and requirements 
for producing the SDP.  This includes production of the Delivery Agreement, a 
‘Preferred Strategy’ and ‘Deposit Plan’, which will need to be underpinned by a 
substantive evidence base to be amassed. The SDP will need to be tested through an 
Examination in Public. 

13. WG has indicated that it expects technical work on aspects of the SDP, including the 
evidence base, to be undertaken within the period leading up to the CJC Regulations 
coming into force in June/July 2022. Having regard to the latest Guidance and Advisory 
Notes, and accounting for the dates associated with Local Elections and formalisation 
of the CJC, it is estimated that the SDP could be achieved in 2029. 

14. It is proposed that from February 2022 (after SDP Regulations come into force), all 
opportunities for collaborative working on cross boundary issues (such as financial 
viability, housing markets, strategic green infrastructure, etc.) be explored by Local 
Planning Authorities, having regard to priority issues for replacement LDPs and other 
policy matters. From April 2022 work will begin on scoping SDP Delivery Agreement. 

 

Transport 

 
15. There is some urgency with Wales Government for the CJC to develop and approve 

a regional transport plan by December 2022. There is also an ambition within Wales 
Government for the region to consult with the public on a plan by June 2022. The 
regional transport plan is a statutory document and the process will follow Wales 
Government guidance. The guidance has not been issued to date, but it is expected 
shortly.  The previous regional plan took eighteen months to develop. It was 

Tudalen31



4 

 

developed within an environment where there were formally constituted governance 
arrangements in place through the South West Wales Integrated Transport Consortia 
(SWWITCH).  The Governance arrangement included a support structure and 
staffing resource funded by the Wales Government along with specialist consultancy 
support. This was additional to the local authorities’ own transport planning staffing 
resource.  

 
16. The RTP is a major body of work that will require specialist studies, impact 

assessments and a strategic environmental assessment.  There is no regional 
resource in place to support the work currently and whilst the local authorities 
collaborate, officers do not have the capacity to keep up with the pace and scale of 
work demanded by the Wales Government. The work to date and ongoing includes: 

 Bus reform 

 20 mph default speed limit 

 Active Travel 

 Roads Review 

 Metro development 

17. It is therefore important that the CJC and region is sufficiently resourced to undertake 
the work required for the RTP in year one and in subsequent years be able to cope 
with wider strategic change driven by the Wales Government.  

 
18. Given the wider agenda of reform and ongoing reviews commissioned by the Wales 

Government, there will be a need to review of the structure during year one. Cabinet 
Members with responsibility for Transport across Wales have already advised the 
Minister that they wish to see a hybrid arrangement for the planning, management 
and administration of bus services which depending on the ongoing work will require 
some form of regional support to deliver change at the pace determined by the Wales 
Government.  Further developments will depend on the outcome of the Wales 
Government reviews. There will also be a requirement to move from RTP 
development and adoption to delivery which will necessitate a shift to programme 
management delivery and risk.     

 
Energy 

 

19. The policy landscape around energy & decarbonisation is constantly evolving, but 
relevant recent Welsh policy is includes: 

 a target for a carbon-neutral public sector by 2030. 

 a target for ‘at least’ 100% reduction in all-Wales net emissions by 2050 

against a 1990 baseline. 63% reduction by 2030, 89% reduction by 2040. A 

target for 70% of electricity used in Wales to be from renewable sources by 

2030. 

 a target for 1 gigawatt (GW) of renewable electricity capacity in Wales to be 

locally owned by 2030 and for all new projects to have an element of local 

ownership from 2020. 

 
20. In May 2019, following the lead set by both Welsh and Scottish governments, the 

House of Commons declared a climate emergency. 

Tudalen32



5 

 

 
21. The SW Wales Local Authorities are currently developing the South West Wales 

Regional Energy Strategy. This regional energy strategy for the South West Wales 
Region was commissioned by the Welsh Government and supported by the Welsh 
Government Energy Service. It has been developed by the South West Wales 
Energy Core Group, a sub-group of the Regional Directors’ forum from the four local 
authorities in South West Wales. 

 
22. To that extent, our proposed vision is that the authorities comprising the CJC 

Harnessing the region’s low carbon energy potential across its on and offshore 
locations, to deliver a prosperous and equitable net zero carbon economy which 
enhances the well-being of future generations and the region’s ecosystems, at a 
pace which delivers against regional and national emissions reduction targets by 
2035 and 2050. 

 
23. As part of this core principles include: 

 Optimise the wide range of regional natural resources. 

 The transition to a low carbon economy needs to improve lives for all and for 

benefits to be shared in an equitable way. 

 Led by a proactive and effective regional delivery vehicle to ensure the vision 

translates into effective action. 

24. Our strategic priorities are proposed to be: 

 Energy efficiency: a key priority for the region is to drive down energy demand. 

 Electricity generation: encourage a mix of low carbon energy technologies to 

increase the reliability and stability of electricity generation. 

 Smart and flexible systems. 

 Decarbonise Heat: a ‘whole system’ and ‘one heating problem to one heating 

solution’ approach. 

 Decarbonise Transport: lead the decarbonisation of transport and promote 

active travel behaviour. 

 Regional coordination: Build a regional coordinated approach to infrastructure 

planning and delivery. 

25. Sitting one layer beneath the Regional Energy Strategy at a greater level of granular 
detail is the Local Area Energy Planning (“LAEP”) process. This is a process 
considering the whole energy system in a local area, which has the potential to 
inform, shape and enable key aspects of the transition to a net zero carbon energy 
system. There is a two year programme for the development of LAEPs in the region 
(April 22- March 24) recognising that authorities have differing levels of capacity to 
support this work. 

 
26. In 2017, the WG set the ambition of achieving a carbon neutral public sector by 2030. 

In doing so, WG recognised the public sector is uniquely placed to influence 
emissions far more widely than its own, relatively small direct emissions in areas 

Tudalen33



6 

 

such as transport, energy and land use. As well as tackling the issues of air pollution, 
WG deem that this approach can have a positive impact on the local economy by 
reducing energy costs and by creating investment opportunities for the low carbon 
economy.  All the LA’s in the SW Wales region are working towards the net zero 
carbon by 2030 goal.  

 
27. Harnessing the region’s low carbon energy potential across its on and offshore 

locations, to deliver a prosperous and equitable net zero carbon economy which 
enhances the well-being of future generations and the region’s ecosystems, at a 
pace which delivers against regional and national emissions reduction targets by 
2035 and 2050 is a transformative body of work that will require significant resource.  

 

Role of the Chief Executive 

 
28. CJCs are required to appoint a number of statutory “executive officers” similar to the 

roles within principal councils (i.e. Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer.  

 
29. It is proposed that the role specifically of the Chief Executive will be rotated annually 

amongst the Chief Executives of the Constituent Councils, changing on an annual 
basis (Neath Port Talbot being first, followed by Pembrokeshire, Carmarthenshire 
and Swansea) 

 
30. Members of the CJC have designated Karen Jones (Neath Port Talbot County 

Borough Council) as the first Chief Executive of the CJC and accordingly that officer 
is required to perform the following role: 
(a)  Oversee the manner in which the exercise by the CHC of its different functions 

are co-ordinated; 
(b) Oversee the CJC’s arrangements in relation to—(i) financial planning, (ii)asset 

management, and (iii)risk management; 
(c) the number and grades of staff required by the CJC for the exercise of its 

functions 
(d)  the organisation of the CJC’s staff; 
(e) the appointment of the CJC’s staff; 
(f) the arrangements for the management of the CJC’s staff (including 

arrangements for training and development). 
 
31. The CJC must provide its chief executive with such staff, accommodation and other 

resources as are, in the chief executive’s opinion, sufficient to allow the chief 
executive’s duties under this section to be carried out.  

 
32. Over the coming months, the Chief Executive will ensure suitable arrangements are 

in place to discharge the obligations that the CJC have agreed in respect of 
executive officers and support services, with suitable service level agreements to be 
entered into and delegated authority is sought from the CJC to negotiate and agree 
these documents. It is not proposed, in the first instance, that the CJC will employ 
staff directly but will as an alternative have such support provided by way of 
secondment arrangements and services provided via service level agreements with 
the relevant authorities. 

Tudalen34



7 

 

 
33. To discharge the responsibility on the Chief Executive that suitable arrangements are 

in place to support the work of the CJC, it is proposed that support services be 
agreed with the following local authorities: 

 

Function of the CJC Constituent Authority 

Chief Executive Rotating Annually between Neath Port 
Talbot, Pembrokeshire, 
Carmarthenshire and Swansea 

The first being Neath Port Talbot  

S151 (Chief Finance Officer) Carmarthenshire 

Monitoring Officer Neath Port Talbot 

Democratic Services function Neath Port Talbot 

Scrutiny Services function Neath Port Talbot 

Governance and Audit function Pembrokeshire 

Human Resources function Neath Port Talbot 

ICT and Data Protection function Neath Port Talbot 

Communications function Swansea 

 
34. An agreement will be entered into between the CJC and the authorities for the 

constituent council staff to be made available to the CJC and will be acting as if CJC 
staff when carrying out functions for the CJC. The support services provided will be 
on an ad-hoc basis as and when support is required, and will be carried out by staff 
within their normal contracted hours with their Constituent Councils. Chief Executives 
of respective authorities will make a charge for the services provided on the terms of 
the agreed Service Level Agreements and provision has been made within the 
proposed budget for the CJC in 2022/23 to meet these costs.  

 
Financial Impacts:  
 
35. To be considered in reports of the Chief Finance Officer and as part of budget setting 

for the CJC. 
 
Integrated Impact Assessment: 
 
36. The CJC is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the socio-

economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage 

Tudalen35



8 

 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability 
of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
37. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public bodies 

in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development means 
the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 
 

38. There is no requirement for an Integrated Impact Assessment for this report as the 
setting up of the CJC is underpinned by legislation and this report is to establish 
governance arrangements in accordance with legislation.  

 
Workforce Impacts: 
 
39. At this stage, it is not intended that the CJC will employ staff directly. Work will be 

undertaken in 2022/23 to establish a suitable employment policy framework for the 
CJC that could support the employment of staff if required at a future date.  

 
Legal Impacts: 
 
40. Part 5 of the LGE Act provides for the establishment, through regulations, of CJCs and 

compliance will be had with this and other legislative obligations in the establishment 
of CJCs. In particular the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee Regulations 
came into force on 1st April 2021 and set out an initial framework for example, that the 
CJC should be established and the timeframes for the discharging of specific functions. 
However, a series of further Regulations are being drafted and consulted on by Welsh 
Government. The Welsh Government has concluded its consultation on the Corporate 
Joint Committees (General) (No.2) (Wales) Regulations 2021. The Welsh Government 
is also currently consulting on draft statutory guidance. A third stage of Regulations 
will put in place further legislation for the operation of the CJCs and its functions, which 
Welsh Government are currently being consulted on. A fourth stage will put in place 
any remaining provisions that a CJC might need. 

 
Risk Management Impacts:  
 
41. Failure to have constituted the CJC would have meant that the CJC would not be able 

to make any decisions, including setting a budget for the 2022/2023 financial year. In 
addition, suitable arrangements were required to be put in place to ensure that the 
constituent councils and national park authorities are able to fulfil their legal obligations 
in establishing the CJC. 

 
Consultation: 
  
42. There is no requirement for consultation in respect of this report. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision:  
 

Tudalen36



9 

 

43 To ensure appropriate governance arrangements are in place for the CJC to be 
established in line with the policy intent and related legislative provisions enacted by 
the Welsh Government.  

 
Implementation of Decision: 
 
44. Not applicable. 
 
Appendices:  
 
45. None 
 
List of Background Papers: 
 
46. None 

Tudalen37



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag


	Agenda
	5 Cyfansoddiad Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforedig Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru
	6 Cylch Gorchwyl Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforedig Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru.
	7 Cyd-bwyllgor Corfforedig Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru - Blaenraglen Waith y Prif Weithredwr.

